
FILEZ FECEI/EO
ENTEFED SER/EZ ON

ZCUISEL/F4iTIES DF FE:û821 
CHARLES LA BELLA
KATHLEEN M CGOVERN

2 Deputy Chiefs ! ) ..
,) ' r ?p 2T H O M A .S B W  . H A L L '

3 M ARY ANN M CCARTHY
Trial Attorpeys SLERr OS DIST8IST CSdRT4 
Fraud Sectlon, Criminal Division DISIiICT 0F 24E$f/122

By: DLPCTV
.U S. Department of Justice

5 1400 N ew York Avenue, NW
w ashingto ,n DC 20530

6 (202) 598-2240

7 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

8 DISTRICT OF N EVADA
9 -000-

10 IJNITED s'rA'l'ss oF AM ERICA
, )

) CASE N0.: 2:l3-cr-018 :11 
)

Plaintiff, ) DATE FILED:12 
) '

v. )13 
)

LEON BENZER, ) VIOLATIONS:14 
KEITH GREGORV, )
CHARIaES MCCHESNEY ) 18 U.S.C. j 1349 (conspiracy to commit maill 5
BARRY LEVINSO ,N ) and wire fraud - 1 count); 18 U.S.C. j 1343
Rlclt'Y ANDERSON, ) (wire fraud- 14 counts); 18 U.S.C. j 1341l 6
MARIA LlM o ,N ) (mail tyaud- 2 cotmts); 18 U.S.C. j 1001JosE LUIS ALVAREZ

, ) (juse statement -  1 count)17 RUDOLFO ALVAREZ-RODRIGUEZ, )
ls SALVATORE RUVOLO )

DAVID BAL ,L and )
EDITH GILLESPIE. )19

)
20 Defendants. )

21

22
INDICTM ENT

23

INTRODUCTION24

25 THE GRAND JURY CHARGES THAT:

26 At a11 times material to this Indictment:
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1 1. Ptlrsuant to Nevada law, a homeowner's association (HOA) is a ;
' y2 oorpôration that governs a common interest community, as defintd under NRS 1 16.021. A HOA

i
3 is controlled by the developer until the housing tmits are sold, at which time the control is :!

4 transferred to the bona fide homeowners. Only bona fide homeowners can be members in the

5 HOA.

6 2. Following transfer of control by the developer, a H0A is governed by a

7 board of directors with a minhnum of three members, all of whom must be bona fide

8 homeowners. The board members are elected by the bona fide homeowners annually.

9 3. Under Nevada law, HOA board members are fiduciaries. Any person

10 nominated for the board must make a good faith effort to disclose any tinanciala business,

1 1 professional, or pelsonal' relationship or interest that would result or would appear to a

12 reasonable person to result in a potential conflict of interest.

l 3 4. Consistent with tlleir fiduciary duties and pursuant to Nevada Iaws HOA

14 board members may not solicit or accept arly form of compensation, gratuity, or other

15 remuneration that would improperly influence or reasonably appear to influence the board

16 members' decisions or would result or reasonably appear to result in a contlict of interest.

17 5. Consistent with their flduciary duties, the board of directors is empowered

18 to make decisions related to the common interests of the homeowners, including but not limited

19 to: adopting and amending bylaws and budgets; biring managers, employees, agents, attorneys,

20 independent alld contractors; instituting or defending the community in litigation; and causing

21 additional improvements or maintenance repairs to be made.

22 6. Before hiring individuals and companies to work on behalf of the HOA,

23 the HOA board usually obtains three bids for consideration. The three bids are usually presented

24 duzing public board meetings with an opporttmity for the homeowners to comment and discuss

25 the issues at hand. T'he property manager is usually selected frst, and then the property manager

26 helps to identify and obtain bids for other services.
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1 7. Under Nevada laws property managers must earn a Comrntmity

2 Association Management (CAM) license before being able to work in the svte of Nevada.

3 Property managers have tiduciary obligations to act in the best interest of the community,

4 safeguard financial and confidential information for the commtmity, and disclose any affiliation

5 or financial interest with any other person or business that ftpnishes goods or services to the

6 com m tm ity.

7 8. Chateau Versailles, Chateau Nouveau, Park Avenue, Jasmine, Vistanaz

8 Sunset Cliffs, Palmillw Pebble Creek, Mission Ridge, M ission Pointe, and Horizons at Seven

9 Hills, common interest communities, were located in Lms Vegas, Nevada. Each had an HOA

10 board consisting of at least three people.

1 l 9. From at least in or about August 2003 through at least in or abtmt

12 February 2009, Defendants participated in a scheme to fraudulently obtain loans on properties

l 3 within these and other HOAs, fraudulently intiltrate the boards of these HOAs, and then award

14 legal and constnzction work to co-conspirators.

15 10. Deftndant LEON BENZER, a Las Vegms resident, owned Silver Lining

16 Construction Company (SLC), a construction company incorporated in the state of Nevada. SLC

l 7 purported to specialize in home building and repairs, including repairs involving so-called

18 construction defects (CDs).
19 1 1. Co-conspirator Ralph Priolas charged separately, was an employee of

20 SLC, and one of BENZER'S principal usistants.

21 12. Co-conspirator A was a 1aw firm in Las Vegas that specialized in

22 constnzction defect litigation. Co-conspirator B was a Nevndn attorney who owned and

23 controlled Co-conspirator A. Co-conspirator B was, along with BENZER, a mastermind of the

24 conspiracy and also one of its principal somces of ftmding. Co-conspirator B participated in the

25 corlspiracy tmtil the death of Co-conspirator B in March 2012. BENZER and his co-

26 conspirators, tkrough the use of 'Kstraw plzrchasers'' via tinanced transactions, caused th'e
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l
 1 pttrchase or transfer of approximately 37 condominium units in an effort to take control of HOA

i 2 boards through the nomination and election of these straw purchasers as HOA board members.
k

3 'Fhe straw pmchasers, once elected were tmder the direction afld control of BENZER and SLC.

4 As a result of the schem e, 33 of these 37 condominium s went into foreclosure.

5 13. Defendant KEITH GREGORY, a Las Vegas resident, was an attomey

6 licensed in Nevada who did work for BENZER and SLC, and who, through the actions of SLC '

7 controlled boards, was llired and acted as general oounsel at the Vistana and Sunset Cliffs HOAs

8 atld who, at the direction of SLC and BENZER, purported to represent an SLC and BENZER

9 controlled board candidate in art action against an HOA board that SLC and BENZER were

10 attem pting to control.

11 14. Defendant CHARLES M CCIIESNEY IAIQA GCHUCK

l 2 M CCHESNEYN, a Las Veg% resident, was a private investigator who began working for

13 BENZER in 2004, and a straw purchaser and SLC controlled board member at the Chateau

14 Nouveau HOA.

15 15. Defendant BARRY LEW NSON, a Las Vegms resident, was an attorney

16 licensed in Nevada who did work for SLC and BENZER and who, through the actions of SLC

17 and BENZER controlled boards, acted as genel-al counsel at the Park Avenue and Pebble Creek

18 HOAs and who, at the direction of SLC and BENZER, purported to represent an HOA in an

19 effort to secure board positions for SLC and BENZER controlled candidates.

20 16. Defendarlt RICKY ANDERSON, a Texas resident, wms a straw pklrchaser

21 and an employee of SLC and BENZER who, in an e-mail to BENZER described his duties as,

22 among others, E'HOA Enforcer.''

23 17. Defendant M ARIA LIM ON, a'North Las Vegms resident, was a straw

24 pttrchaser and worked as an tmlicensed property manager at one of the SLC owned and

25 controlled property management companies used during the conspiracy.

26 18. Defendant JOSE LUIS ALVAREZ IAIQA GLUIS ALVAREZD, a

4
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1 Henderson residem , was employed by SLC, acted as a straw purchmser at certain HOAs targeted

2 by the consphators, was an SLC controlled board members and assisted in the rigging of at least

3 one HOA election. . '

l 4 19 Defendant RODOLFO ALVAREZ (AKA GRUDY ALVAREZO), a Las

5 Vegms resident and brother of JOSE LUIS ALVAREZ, was employtd by SLC, a straw

i 6 purchaser at the Vistana HOA, and an SLC controlled board member.

r 7 20. Defendant SALVATORE RW OLO IAKA CCSAM RW OLOM and

8 6CSAL RlJVOLO''), a Henderson resident, was a straF purchaser and an SLC controlled board

9 member at the Park Avenue atld Chateau Nouveau HOAs.

10 21 . Defendant DAVID BALL, a Las Vegas resident, was a real estate agent

l l who was a straw pttrchaser and arl SLC controlled board member at Chateau Nouveau, and a

12 recruiter of another straw pttrohaser and SLC controlled board member at Chateau Nouveau.

13 22. Defendant EDITH GILLESPIE, a Las Vegas resident, w% BENZER'S

14 half-sister, a straw purchaser at a HOA, and a recruiter of other straw purchasers and board

15 candidates on behalf of BENZER.

16 COUNT ONE

17 THE CONSPIRACY

18 23. From at least in or about August 2003 tluough at least in or about

19 Febnzary 2009, in the District of Ntvada and elsewhere, Defendants

20 xzER 'LEON BE 
,

KEITH GREGORY,21
CHARLES M CCHESNEY,

22 BARRY LEVINSON,
RICIW  ANDERSON,

23 M ARIA LIM ON,
JOSE LUIS ALVAREZ,

24 RODOLFO ALVAREZ-RODRIGUEZ
,

25 SALVATORE RW OLO
DAVID BALL, and

26 EDITH GILLESPIE,

5

Case 2:13-cr-00018-JCM-GWF   Document 1   Filed 01/15/13   Page 5 of 19



1 with others known and unknown to the United States, did knowingly and intentionally conspirea

2 combine, confederate and agree to commit certain offenses against the United States, that is:

3 a. to devise and intend to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud and to

4 obtain money and property by means of materially falst and fraudulent pretenses, representations

5 and promises, that affected a finanoial institution; and for the purpose of executing such scheme

6 and artifice, each Defendant or their coconspirators did knowingly place or caused to be placed

7 in a post office and authorized depository for mail matter a thing to be sent and delivered by the

8 U.S. Postal Service or any private or cornmercial inters/te canier, in violation of Title 18,

9 United States Code, Section 1341 ; and,

10 b. to devise and intend to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud and to

1 1 obtain money and property by means of matelially false and fraudulent pretenses,

12 representations, and promises, that affected a linancial institution; and for the pup ose of

13 executing such scheme and artifice, each Defendant or their coconspirators did knowingly

14 transrnit and cause to be transmitted by means of wire communication in interstate and foreign

15 commerce, writings, signs, signals, picturess and sotmds, in violation of Title 18, United States

16 Code, Section 1343.

17 OBJECTS OF THE CONSPIRACY

18 24. 'fhe objects of the conspiracy, of which Defendants LEON BENZER,

19 KEITH GREGORY, C ES M CCHESNEY, BARRY LEW NSON, RICKY

20 ANDERSON, M ARIA LIM ON. JOSE LITIS ALVAREZ, RODOLFO ALVAREZ-

21 RODRIGUEA  SALVATORE RUVOLO, DAVID BALL, and EDITH GILLESPIE were

22 members, which began from at least as early as in or around August 2003 and continued througyh

23 at least in or arotmd February 2009, were for the co-conspirators to:

24 a. facilitate the purchase of units in the housing developments identified

25 above by straw purchasers acting at the secret direction of the conspirators;

26 b. employ the straw purchasers to elect HOA board candidates designated by

6
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 1 the co-eonspirators, thereby gaining the control of HOA boards;

2 c. manipulate and influence the conduct of HOA business including, but not
1
 3 limited to

, 
the appointment of designated property managers, the hiring of designated lawyers

4 and 1aw finnss and the hiring of designated contractors; and,

5 d. tmlawfully emich the co-conspirators as a result of the scheme by oausing

6 the puppet HOA boards to award legal, construction, and otller work to entities controlled by co-

7 conspW tors.

8 MANNER AND M EANS

9 25. In order to achieve the objects of the conspiracy, Defendatlts LEON

10 BENZER KEITH GREGORY, CHAIH,ES MCCHESNEY, BARRY LEVINSON, RICK'Y

11 ANDERSON, M ARIA LIM ON, JOSE LUIS ALVAREZ, RODOLFO ALVARED

12 RODRIGUEZ, SALVATORE RIJVOLO, DAVID BALL, and EDITH GILLESPIE and

13 others known and lmknown to the Cyrand Jury, msed the following mnnner and means, among

14 others:

15 a. The Defendants and their co-conspirators enlisted real est-ate agents to

16 identify condorninium units within HOA communities for purchmse by co-conspirators in

1 7 connection with the scheme.

18 b. n e co-conspirators enlisted individuals to act as straw purchasers to

19 complete and sign mortgage loan applications to plzrchase properties within the HOA

20 communities on behalf of tht tnze beneticial owners, and made false and fraudulent statements

21 that concealed the identity and flnnncial interest of the trtze beneticial owners of the properties

22 from bankR, mortgage companies, H0As, and bona fide homeownel's. Defendant LEON

23 BENZER - and at certain timej relevant to this Indictment, Co-conspirator B - funded the

24 down payments, and the co-conspirators sent emails and spreadsheets, many via interstate wire,

25 outlining the purchase and payment terms (two of which were entitled tlcondosinlinetobuy'' and

26 StMoney back to LB on cash dealsm'')

7
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l c. The co-conspirators used several licensed notazies to mssist the notarizing

2 of documents, at times fraudulently, in fartlwrance of the conspiracy without the signatory

3 appearing before him/her or without entering the transaction into his/her notmy book as required

4 by his/her State of Nevada notary license.

5 d. Various co-conspirators joined the conspiracy when they agreed to

6 become straw purchasers at a particular HOA. M any co-conspirators would and did sign dnd

7 submit false and fraudulent loan applications and supporthlg documents to financial instimtiorls

8 in order to fmmwe and close on the properties. The co-conspirators, through the use of çtstraw

9 purchasers'' would and did cause the purchase or trallsfer of appraximately 37 condominium

10 unitss 33 of which went into foreclosure as a result of the scheme.

l 1 e. Onc,e the straw purchases were complete, the beneficial owners and co-

12 conspirators ohen rented the units. In most instances, fhe beneficial owners (not the straw

l 3 purchasers) received the rental payments and continued to pay the mortgages and various

14 experuses associated w1t11 the straw pm chases.

15 f In fadherance of the scheme, in or about August 2005, August 2006,

16 January 2007, and Februaz'y 2007, a co-conspirator opened and mmmged approximately six bank

17 accourtts at the request and pursuant to tlle instrtzctions of LEON BENZER and SLC tmder the

18 names of limited liability companies controlled by BENZF,R in order to, among other things,

19 conceal the identity of the beneficial owners. 'rhe co-conspirators would send and cause to be

20 sent numerous interstate wire transfers made to and from these aocounts to fund the conspiracy

2 1 and to pay co-conspirators for their pazticipation in 1he solleme. Defendant BENZER, together

22 with Co-conspirators A, B and Priola wolzld and did cause deposits of approximately

23 $1,981.077, $700,000 and $300,000 into these accounts, among otilers. In excess of

24 approximately $8,000,000 moved through these six accounts.

25 g. Several conspirator straw pm chasers allowed the co-conspirators to

26 transfer a 1% or greater ownership interest in the purchased unit to another co-oonspirator to

8
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1 make it appear that the new owner wms a bona tide homeowner in the HOA and was qualitied to

2 run for a position on the HOA board of directors.

3 h. The co-conspirators would and did refinance the properties in order to

4 increase the conspiracy's capital from which conspimtors could be paid for their services and

5 additional condominiums oould be purchmsed, oAen submitting false, fraudulent or rnisleading

6 informaticm to the fnancial institutions.

7 i. The conspirator straw purchasers and those co-conspirators who acquired

8 a transferred interest in the properties often agreed to ran for election to HOA boards. These co-

9 conspirators, including Defendants JOSE ALVAREZ, RODOLFO ALVEREZ-

10 RODRIGUEZ, RICK'Y ANDERSON MARIA LIM ON, CHARLES M CCHESNEY,

I l l SALVATORE RUVOLO, and DAVID BALL, were paid or promised cmsh, checks, or things

12 of value for their participation, a11 of which resulted in a personal financial benelit to the co-

13 conspirators.

! 14 j. To ensttre the co-conspirators would win the elections, the co-tonspirators
!
 l 5 often employed deceitful taotics

, such as creating false phone sulveys to gather inform ation

 &16 about homeowners voting intentions, using mailing lists to vote on behalf of out-of-town
I
! 17 homeownez.s who were unlikely to participate in the elections. and submitting fake and forged

 18 ballots.

 19 k Certain co-conspirators assisted in rigging certain HOA board elections

1 ' ' forged ballots for out-of-town homeowners and eitherI 20 by, among other things, prepnrlng
ï
 21 transported the ballots or caused the ballots to be transported or mailed to California and

 22 thereaRer to have the ballots mailed back to L&s Vegas from various locations around Califomia,

(
' 23 to make it appear that the ballots were completed and mailed by bona lide homeowners residing
;

24 outside Nevada. n e co-conspirators also hired plivate investigators to Gnd Tfdirt'' on bona fide

25 candidates in order to influence the elections. Certain other co-conspirators - who were

1 26 attorneys -  assisted the conspiracy by serving as general counsel for HOAs and purporting to act
i

9
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1 in the interest of the homeowners, while in reality they were serving the interests of BENZER

2 arld the other conspirators.

3 1. The co-conspirators attem pted to create the appearance that the elections
i

4 were legitimate and free from com zption by hiring GV dependent'' attorneys as ''special election

 5 masters,'' to supervise tlze HOA board elections. These etspecial election masters,'' working with

 6 the HOAs' licensed moperty managers, were obligated to: (i) contact tlw bona fide homeowners
i
l 7 to inform them of the election; (ii) mail the bona fide homeowners election ballots and voting
I
 8 instluctions; (iii) collect alzd secure those election ballots retwned by mail Imtil the date of the
 i luding supervising the counting of 9 election; and (iv) preside over the HOA board election, nc

! 10 ballots. However, in % t11 and fact, certain ''special election masters'' were paid in cash, check,

1 1 or promised things of value, by or on behalf of LEON BENZER and SLC for their assistance in

12 allow ing co-conspirators to rig the elections by allowing the co-conspirators access to the ballots

13 atàer they were collected but before they were counted.

14 m . Once elected, tht straw ptlrchmsers and SLC controlled board members

15 would and did meet with co-conspirators in order to mnnipulate board agendas as well as board

16 votes, including tlze selection of property managers, contractors, general counsel and attorneys to

17 represent the HOA.

18 OVERT ACTS

19 26. The following evert acts were committed by at least one of tlze

20 conspiratorss in the District of Nevada and elsewhere, in furtherance of the conspiracy: '

21 a. On or about September 7, 2005, RUVOLO was a straw purchmser of unit

22 l 199 at the Chateau Nouveau HOA.

23 b. On or about October 5, 2005, J. ALVAREZ wms a straw purchmser of unit

24 2514 at Seven Hills HOA.

25 c. On or about November 3, 2005, M CCHESNEY sold unit 1122 to a SLC

26 employee.

1 0
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l d. On or about November l 8, 2005, BENZER and other co-conspirators
;
 2 caused the transfer of $183,000 for the pttrchase of condominiums.

 3 ' e. On or about November 18, 2005, RUVOLO was a straw purchaser of unit

i
I 4 401 at Park Avenue.
 '
 5 f. On or about December l 3, 2005, GILLESPIE was a straw plzrohaser at
I

6 Chateau Versailles HOA.

7 g. On or about M arch 30, 2007, BALL was a straw plzrchaser of and emmed

8 a brokergs commission on tmit 2028 at Chateau Nouveau HOA.

9 h. On or about September 21, 2007, BENZER R. ALVAQEZ and other co-

10 conspirators caused the Vistana mobilization fee of $1,098,000 to be paid to BENZER.

1 1 i. 0n or about September 24, 2007, BENZER caused a bribe payment of

12 $10,000 to be made to GREGORY.

13 j. On or about October 30, 2007, BENZER, R. ALVAQEZ and other co-

14 conspirators caused the Vistana CD settlement funds of $1,190,056.80 to be paid to BENZER.

l 5 k. On or about January 10, 2008, BENZEK  R. ALVAREZ and other co-

l 6 conspirators caused the Vistana CD settlement ftmds of $ 1, l #9, 151 to be paid to BENZER.

17 1. On M arch 5, 2008, BALL sent an email via interstate communication to,

18 among others, RUVOLO and M CCHESNEY, subject line tGRE: Chateau Nouveau-lool, 1341,

19 bldg 47,5' authorizing repairs to be conducted by Silver Lining Construction.

20 m. On or about March 5, 2008, M CCCHESNEY sent an email via intersute

21 commtmication, subject line C'RE: Chateau Nouveau-lool, l 34 1, bldg 47,95 authorizing repairs to

22 be conducted by Silver Lining Construction.

23 n. On or about Aplil 15s 2008, BENZER azld other co-conspirators oaused

24 the mailing of forged ballots for the Park Avenue H0A election in which R'IJVOLO and other

25 co-conspirators ran for the HOA board.

26 o. 0n or about July 9, 2008, LEW NSON sent a lett-r tacastle M anag' ement

11
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. I

(

1 terminating the company's contract at Pebble Creek HOA.

2 p. 0n or about September 18, 2008, GREGORY sent an email via interstate

3 commtmication to BENZER, subject line ltstmset Cliffsy'' regarding a pxtition for recall at the

4 Sunset Cliffs HOA .

5 Al1 in violation of Title 18, United Stxtes Code. Section 1349.

6 COUNTS 2 THROUGH 15

7 W IRE FM UD

8 27. The Grand Jury realleges and incorporates by teference paragraphs 1 tluough 26.

9 28. From at least in or about August 2003 tllroug,h at least in or about February 2009,

10 in the Distriot of Nevada and elsewhere, Defendants

l l LEON BENZER,
JOSE LUIS ALVAREZ,

12 LFo ALVAREZ-RODRIGUEZ,RODO
13 DAVID BALL

EDITH GILLESPIE,
14 K EITH GREGORY,

clu ltlœ s M CCHESNEY, and
15 sAtzvytToltE Rtrvotzo

16 with others known and tlnknown to the United States, did knowingly and inlentionally devise

17 and intend to devise a scheme and artitke to defraud and to obtain money and property by means

18 of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, represent4tions, and promises, that affected a

19 financial institution; and for the purpose of executing such scheme and artitke, the following

20 Defendants, acting in concert with and aiding the others, did knowingly transmit and cause to be

21 transm itted by means of wire com munication in interstate and foreign com merce, writings, signs,

22 sigtmls, pictures, and sounds:

23 W fltE TRANSFERS

COUNT DEFENDANTIS) AIVROX. m lc  COM MIJNICATION24
DATE

25 2 BENZER, 9/7/05 W ire for $180,215.00 from Bank of America in
RUVOLO New York via Fedwire to US Bank in Portland,

26 oregon

12
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3 BENZER, 10/1 0/05 W ire for $177,365.78 from Fremont lnvestment
1 J

. ALVAREZ and Loan in Californiw through New York via
Fedwire to First Am ericalz Trust Company in2
California.

3 4 BENZER  11/3/05 W ire for $234,666.36 from Deutsche Bank Trust
M CCHESNEY Companies America in New York to First

4 Am erican Tnzst Com  an in California

5 BENZER 11/18/05 W ire for $183,000 from Skategic One Consulting5 
,Czroup LLC s accotmt # X8090 at W ells

6 Fargo Bank, in California to Blue Sky M m t's
accotmt 0160 at Bank of North Las

7 Ve as in Nevada.
6 BENZER, l 1/18/05 W ire for $200,1 10.98 from JP M organ Chmse

8 RUVOLO through New York via Fedwire to First Aznerican
Trust Com  an in Califom ia.9

7 BENZER, 12/13/05 W ire for $233,174.22 from Iaeluna!z Brothers
10 GILLESPIE Bank FSB via Fedwire to First American Trust

Com an in California
1 1 8 BENZER 3/30/07 Wire for $8,990.00 from Bank of America via

BALL Fedwh'e to W ashin on M utual Bank.
12 ,9 BENZEK  1t

. 9/21/07 W ire for $1,098,000 from Vistnnn s aocount
13 ALVAREZ //XX7EX:0474 at W achovia Bank via Portland,

Oregon to BENZER'S account XXXX-XXXX-
14 7214 at U.S. Bank National Association in Las

Ve as, Nevada.
15 10 BENZER

, 9/24/07 W ire for $10,000 from BENZEW S personal
GREGORY accotmt #XXXX-XXXX-72l4 at U.S. Bankl 6

National Association to GAEGORY'S personal
17 aK ount 0590 at W ells Far o Bank.

1 1 BENZER, R. 10/30/07 W ire for $1,190,056.80 from Vistu a's accotmt
18 ALVAREZ //:h1X X:X20474 at W achovia Bank via Portland,

Oregon to BENZER'S accotmt X KXX-XXXX-
1 9 7214 at U

.S. Bank National Association in Las
20 Ve as, Nevada.

12 BENZER, R. 1/10/08 W ire for $1,189,151 from Vistana's account
21 ALVAREZ //:LXX.X40474 at W achovia Bank, via Fedwire to

Silver Lining Invese ent's account
22 9004 at First National Barzk of Nevada

23

24

25

26

13
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1 EM M LS

2
COIJNT DEAENDANT APPROX. W IRE COM M IJNICATION

3 DATE

4 13 BENZER, 3/5/08 BALL sent an email via interstate
BALL, comm unication to, am ong others, RUVOLO and

5 RUVOLO, MCCHESNEY, subject line RRE: Chateau
M CCHESNEY Nouveau-lool, 134 1, bldg 47,'' authorizing

6 repairs to be conducted by Silver Lining
Construction

7 14 BENZER  3/5/08 M CCCHESNEY sent an email via interslte
MCCHESNEY communication, subjeot line 4GRE: Chateau i8 

. '' thorizing 1Nouveau-lool, 1341, bldg 47, au l
9 ' repairs to be conducted by Silver Lining j

Constrtzction j
10 /18/08 GREGORY sent arl email via interstate j15 BENZER

, 9
GREGORY communication to BENZER subject line ttsunset p1 1 !

Cliffk'' regarding a petition for recall at the J
12 Slmset Cliffs HOA . 1

13 I
Jln violation of Title l #

, United States Code, Section 1343. I
14 .

15 COUNTS 16 THROUGH 17

16 M AIL FM UD

: 17 29. The Grand Jury realleges and incomorates by reference pmagraphs 1 tkough 26.
!

 
18 30. From at least in or about August 2003 through at least in or about Febzuary 2009,

I 19 in the District of Nevada and elsewhere, Defendants
!
 20 LEON BENZER,

BAjtRv LEvlxsox,
21 and
n  SALVATORE RUVOLO

with others known and llnkmown to the United States. did knowingly and intentionally devise
23

and intend to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and property by means
24

of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and prom ises, that affected a
25

financial institm ion; and for the purpose of executing such schem e and artifice, the following
26

14
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I

1 Defendants, acting in concert w1t11 and aiding the others, did knowingly place or caused to be

2 placed in a post oflice and authorized depository for mail matter a tlting to be sent and delivered .

3 by the U.S. Postal Senrice or arly private or cornmercial interstate carrier; fI
 .

4
Count Defendant Approx. Date M AILING5 

116 BENZER
, 4/15/08 Eleven ballots mailed from Long Beach, CA to j

 6 RUVOLO Platinum in Lms Ve as, NV. i
 17 BENZER 7/9/08 Letter from BARRY LEVINSON to Cmstle l
I , I
I 1 LEVINSON Mana ement terminatin contract at Pebble Creek. I
i

8 ln violation of Title 18
, United States Code, Section 134 1 .

9
I

 10 cotW'r 1: 1
 '
 11 Fu sE STATEM ENT To THE FEDERAL BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION
 I

12 31
. ''fhe Grand Juzy realleges and incorporates by referenoe paragraphs 1 through 26.

13 32. on or about August 26, 200% in Nort.h Lms Vegas, Nevadw within the Distrid of

1 14 Nevada, in a matter within the jmisdiction of the executive branch of the Government of the
I I

15 united states
s

I 16 . A u wjo x
I
 17 knowingly and willfully made and oaused to be made a material false, tictitious, and fraudulent

 18 statem ent and representation
, that is, duzing the eourse of an oflicial investigation being

 19 conducted by tlze Federal Bureau of Investigation and Las Vegas Metropolitan Police
 20 oepartment

, defendant LIM ON falsely stated in substance that she did not communicate with

i 21 BENZER regarding clystal Management and that she did not know BENZER was behind
!
! 22 c stal M anagem ent

, when in truth and in fact, as LIM ON well knew, BENZER had funded
i .I 23 mld controlled Crystal M anagement, which was a property manager at Chateau Nouveau and
!
j 24 other HOAs

, operating at BENZER'S direction to further the objects of the scheme outlined

 25 above.

26 In violation of Title 18
, United States Code, Section 1001(a)(2).

I

15!
I
l
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:

1 FORFEITURE ALLEGATION ONE r

2 Conspiracy to Commit W ire and Mail Fraud

3 1. The allegations contained in Cotmt One of this Criminal Indictment are hereby

4 re-alleged and incorpomted herein by reference for the purpose of alleging forfeiture pursuant to

5 the provisiorls of Title 18, United States Codes Section 98 1(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States :'

6 Code, Section 2461(c). r

7 2. Upon conviction of the felony offense charged in Count One of this Criminal (

8 Indictment,
LEON BENZER, ;

9 IC ITH Gu g oltv,
CH ARI,ES M CCH ESNEY ' k

10 sxm tv LEvINsoN, j
RICKY ANDERSON,

11 M ARIA LIM ON '
JosE Ltqs AtzvM tEz, i

12 RODOLFO ALVAREZ-RODRIGUEZ, !
;SALVATORE RUVOLO 
j13

DAVID BALL, and l
EDITH GILLESPIE, j14

 115 defendants herein, shall forfeit to tlie United Sttes of Americw any property which constittdes o j
' !

from proceeds traceable to violations of Title 18, United States Code, Sedions 1341 ll 6 is derived ,

 17 and 1343, specitud muawful activities as desned in Title l8, united states code, sections I

 18 1956(c)(7)(A) and l961(1)(B); and Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349, conspiracy to
i
i 19 oommit such offenses, a criminal rortkiture moneyjudgment up to $24,871,109.86 in united

20 States Currency.

 21
i
i '22 3

. lf any property subject to forfeitlzre plzrsuant to Title 18, United States Code,

 23 Section 98 1(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c), as a result of any act or

24 omission of the defendants -I
I 25 a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

26 b. hms been kansferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;

i

I
l
 .

 16
i
I
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!

I
I

. 1
I
I

1 c. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the courq Iq
2 d hms been substantially diminished in value; or i

i
3 e. has been cernmlngled with other property that cpnnot be divided without :

4 diffculty; :l

5 it is the intent of the United States, ptlrsuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 8534.19, to ;
!

6 seek forfeiture of properties of the defendant for the cziminal forfeiture moneyjudm ent up to
i

7 $24,871,109.86 in United States Currency. . .

8 A1l pttrsuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United !:

9 States Cchdes Section 2461(c); Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 1343, specified

10 unlawful activities as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(c)(7)(A) and 7.

1 1 1961(1)(B); Title 18, United SGtes Code, Section 1349; and Title 21, United States Code, (
i

12 Section 853û8. :!
13 !

l
;

14 FORTEITURE ALLEGATION TW O !

15 Conspiracy to Cornmit W ire and M ail Fraud i
i

l 6 l . The allegatiorls contained in Count One of this Criminal Indictment are hereby re- l
I

17 alleged and incorporated herein by reference for the purpose of alleging forfeiture pulsuant to the j,

18 provisions of Title 1 8, United States Code, Section 982(a)(2)(A). ,I

19 2 Upon conviction of the felony offense charged in Count One of this Criminal

20 Indictment, I
LEON BENZER,

21 XIU'I'H Gr tyoRy,
CHARLES M CCHESNEY

22 sAm tv tlvlxsox
RICKY ANDERSON

23 M xm x u M ox,
JOSE LUIS ALVAREZ,

24 Ropolay'o ALVAREZ-RODRIGUEZ,
SALVATORE RW OLO

25 DAVID BALL
, and

26 EDITH GILLESPIE,

17
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l defendants herein, shall forfeit to the United SGtes of America, any property constituting, or

2 derived from, proceeds obtained directly or indirectly ms a result of violations of Title 18, United

3 States Code, Section 1341 ; Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343; and Title 18, United

4 States Code, Section 1349, conspiracy to cornmit such offenses, a crim inal forfeiture money

5 judgment up to $24,871,109.86 in United States Currency.

6 3. lf any property subject to forfeiture plzrsuant to Title 18, United States Code,

7 Section 982(a)(2)(A), as a result of any act of omission of the defendants -
E

8 a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;
(

9 b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;
E

'

10 c. had been placed kyond the jurisdiction of the court;

1 l d. hms been substantially dirninished in value; or

12 e. had been commingled with other property that cannot be divided without l
I

l 3 difficulty; !.

14 it is the intent of the United States of America, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section

15 8534.1$, to seek forfeitlzre of any properties of the defendant up to $24,871,109.86 in United

16 States Currency.

17 . . .

18 . . .

19 . . .

20 . . .

21 . . .

22 . . .

23 . . .

24 . . .

25

26 . . .

18
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l Al1 ptlrsuarlt to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(2)(A); Title 18, United

2 States Code, Sections 1341, 1343s and 1349; and Title 21, United States Code, Section 853û9.

3

4 DATED: January, f6 , 2013

5

6 A TRUE BILL:

7

1 /s/8
FOREPERSON

9 ,

j '10 .

' 11 DENIS J. M CINERNEY

cuej.i 12 
d section, criminal DivisionFrauI

U.S. Depnrfm ent of Justice13

14 CHARLES G. LA BELLA
, K ATHLEEN M CGOVERN

l 5 oeputy chiefs
THOM AS B. W . HALL16
M ARY ANN M CCARTHY

17 Trial Attorneys

18

l 9

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

19
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